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b. Bugging, Mail Opening, and Surreptitious Entry.

Intrusive techniques such as bugging, mail opening and surreptitious
entry were used by the FBI without even the kind of formal Presi-
dential authorization and requirement of Attorney General approval
that applied to warrantless wiretapping.

During the war, the FBI began “chamfering” or surreptitious mail
opening, to supplement the overt censorship of international mail
authorized by statute in wartime.” The practice of surreptitious en-
try—or breaking-and-entering—was also used by the FBI in war-
time intelligence operations.™ The Bureau continued or resumed the
use of these techniques after the war without explicit outside
authorization,

Furthermore, the installation of microphone surveillance (“bugs™),
either with or without trespass, was exempt from the procedure for
Attorney General approval of wiretaps. Justice Department records
indicate that no Attorney General formally considered the question
of microphone surveillance involving trespass, except on a hypotheti-
cal basis, until 1952.7¢

C. DoxEestic INTELLIGENCE 1 THE Corp War ERA : 1946-1963

1. Main Developments of the 1946-1963 Period

The domestic intelligence programs of the FBI and the military
intelligence agencies. which were established under presidential au-
thority before World War I1, did not cease with the end of hostilities.
Instead, they set the pattern for decades to come.

Despite Director Hoover's statement that the intelligence structure
could be *“discontinued or very materially curtailed” with the termi-
nation of the national emergency, after the war intelligence operations
were neither discontinued nor curtailed.®* Congressional deference to
the executive branch, the broad scope of investigations, the growth of
the FBI's power, and the substantial immunity of the Bureau from
effective outside supervision became increasingly significant features
of domestic intelligence in the United States. New domestic intelligence
functions were added to previous responsibilities, No attempt was

" FBI memorandum from C. E. Hennrich to A. H. Belmont, 9/7/51.

®Memorandum from the FBI to the Senate Select Committee, 9/23/75.

A 1944 Justice Department memorandum discussed the “admissibility of
evidence obtained by trash covers and microphone surveillance,” in response to
a series of hypothetical questions submitted by the FBI. The memorandum
conecluded that evidence so obtained was admissible even if the microphone sur-
veillance involved a frespass. (Memorandum from Alexander Holtzoff, Special
Assistant to the Attorney General. to J. Edgar Hoover, 7/4/44; c.f., memorandum
from Attorney General J. Howard McGrath to J. Edgar Hoover, 2/26/52.) See
footnote 229 for the 1950s consideration of bugs by the Attorney General.

® In early 1941, Director Hoover had had the following exchange with members
of the House Appropriations Committee :

“Mr. Luprow. At the close of the present emergency, when peace comes, it
would mean that much of this emergency work necessarily will be disecontinued.”

“Mr. Hoover. That is correct. . . . If the national emergency should terminate,
the structure dealing with national defense can immediately be discontinued or
very materially curtailed according to the wishes of Congress.” (First Deficiency
Appropriation Bill, 1941, Iearings before the IHouse Committee on Appropria-
tions, 3/19/41. pp. 188-189,)
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made to enact a legislative charter replacing the wartime emergency
orders, as was done in the for eign intelligence field in 1947,

The main developments during the old War era may be summa-
rized as follows;

a. Domestic Intelligence Authority

During this period there was a national consensus regarding the
danger to the United States from Communism : little distinction was
made between the threats posed by the Soviet Union and by Cominu-
nists within this country. Domestic intelligence activity was ‘supported
by that consensus, although not specific llh authorized by the Congress.

Formal authority for FBI investigations of “subversive flctlvlty
and for the agreements between the F BI and military intelligence was
explicitly glanted in executive directives from DPresidents Truman
and Eisenhower, the National Security Couneil, and Attorneyv Gen-
eral Kennedy. These directives provided no guidance. however, for
conducting or controlling such investigations.

b. Scope of Domestic [ntelligence

The breadth of the FBI's investigation of “subversive infiltration”
continued to produce intelligence reports and massive files on lawful
groups and law-abiding ecitizens who happened to associate, even
unwittingly. with Communists or with socialists unconnected with the
Soviet ['nion who used revolutionary rhetoric. At the same time, the
scope of FBI intelligence expanded to cover civil rights protest activ-
ity as well as violent “Klan-type™ and “hate™ groups, vocal anticom-
munists, and prominent opponents of racial integration. The vague-
ness of the FBI's investigative mandate and the overbreadth of its
collection programs also p]qced it in position to supply the White
House with numerous items of domestic political intelligence appar-
ently desired by Presidents and their aides.

In response to White House and congressional interest in right-
wing organizations, the Internal Revenue Service began comprehen-
sive investigations of right-wing groups in 1961 and later expanded
to left-wing organizations, This effort was directed at identifying
contributions and ascertaining whether the organizations were entitled
to maintain their exempt status.

c. Adecountability and Control

Pervasive secrecy enabled the FBI and the Justice Department to
disregard as “unworkable™ the Emergency Detention Act intended to
set standards for aspects of domestic mtelhirence The FBI's independ-
ent position also allowed it to withhold swnlﬁcant information from a
presidential commission and from every Attorney General; and no
Attorney General inquired fully into the Bureau’s opelatlonb

During the same period, apprehensions about having a “security
police” influenced Congress to prohibit the Central Intelligence
Agency from 0\91(151ng Iaw enforcement powers or performing ¢ ‘inter-
nal secur ity functions.” Nevertheless, in secret and without effective
internal controls, the CT.A undertook programs for testing chemical
and biological agents on unwitting Americans, sometimes with tragic
consequences. The CIA also used American private institutions as
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“cover” and used intrusive techniques affecting the rights of
Americans.

d. Intrusive Techniques

The CTA and the National Security Agency illegally instituted pro-
grams for the interception of international communications to and
from American citizens, primarily first class mail and cable traffic.

During this period, the FBI also used intrusive intelligence gather-
ing techniques against domestic “subversives” and counterintelligence
targets. Sometimes these techniques were covered by a blanket dele-
gation of authority from the Attorney General, as with microphone
surveillance; but frequently they were used without outside authoriza-
tion, as with mail openings and surreptitious entry. Only conventional
wiretaps required the Attorney General’s approval in each case, but
this method was still misused due to the lack of adequate standards
and procedural safeguards.

e. Domestic Corert Action

In the mid-fifties, the 'BI developed the initial COINTELPRO
operations, which used aggressive covert actions to disrupt and dis-
credit Communist Party activities. The FBI subsequently expanded
its COINTELPRO activities to discredit peaceful protest groups
whom Communists had infiltrated but did not control, as well as
groups of socialists who used revolutionary rhetoric but had no con-
nections with a hostile foreign power.

Throughout this period, there was a mixture of secrecy and dis-
closure. Executive action was often substituted for legislation, some-
times with the full knowledge and consent of Congress and on other
occasions without informing Congress or by advising only a select
group of legislators. There 1s no question that Congress, the courts,
and the public expected the I'BI to gather domestic intelligence about
Communists. But the broad scope of FBI investigations, its specitic
programs for achieving “pure intelligence” and **preventive intelli-
gence” objectives, and 1ts use of intrusive techniques and disruptive
counterintelligence measures against domestic “subversives” were not
fully known by anyone outside the Bureau.

2. Domestic Intelligence Luthority

. Anti-Communist Consensus

During the Cold War era, the strong consensus in favor of govern-
mental action against Communists was reflected in decisions of the
Supreme Court and acts of Congress. In the Iorean War period, for
instance, the Supreme Court upheld the convietion of domestic Com-
munist Party leaders under the Smith \Act for conspiracy to advocate
violent overthrow of the government. The Court pinned its decision
upon the conspiratorial nature of the Communist Party of the United
States and its ideological links with the Soviet Union at a time of
stress in Soviet-American relations.®

* The Court held that the grave and probable danger posed by the Communist
Party justified this restriction on free speech under the First Amendment:
“The formation by petitioners of such a highly organized conspiracy, with
rigidly disciplined members subject to call when the leaders, these petitioners,
felt that the time had come for action, coupled with the inflammable nature of
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Several statutes buttressed the FBI’s claim of legitimacy for at least
some aspects of domestic intelligence. Although Congress never di-
rectly authorized Bureau 1nto]]1(ron(-e opers fttlons COH"IGSS enacted the
Internal Security Act of 1950 over President Truman’s veto. Its two
main provisions were: the Subversives Activities Control Act, requir-
ing the registration of members of communist and communist “front”
groups; and the Emergency Detention Act, providing for the intern-
ment in an emergency of persons who might engage in espionage or
sabotage. In this Act. Congress made findings that the Communist
Party was“a dlsmplmed or ﬂam/atlon opmatnm in this nation “under
Soviet I*mon control™ with the aim of installing “a Soviet style dic-
tatorship.™ ** Going even further in 1954, (‘011"1 ess passed the Com-
munist Control ‘\(t. which provided that the Communist Party was
“not entitled to any of the rights, privileges, and immunities attendant
upon legal bodies created under the jurisdietion of the laws of the
United States.”™

In 1956. the Supreme Court recognized the existence of FBI intell1-
gence aimed at “Clommunist seditious d(~t1\ ities.”” ** The basis for Smith
\Ot prosecutions of “subversive activity™ was narrowed in 1957, how-
ever, when the Court overturned the convictions of second-string
Communist leaders. holding that the government must show advooacv
“of action and not merely abstract doctrine.” & In 1961, the Court
sustained the constitutionality under the First Amendment of the re-
quirement. that the Communist Party register with the Subversive
Acivities Control Board.®

The consensus should not be portraved as monolithic. President
Truman was concerned about risks to constitutional government posed

world conditions, and the touch-and-go nature of our relations with countries
with whom petitioners were in the very least ideologically attuned, convince us
that their convictions were justified on this score.” [Dennis v. United States, 341
U8 494 510-511 (1951).]

64 Stat. 987 (1950) The Subversive Activities Control Act’s registration pro-
vision was held not to violate the First Amendment in 1961, {Communist Party v.
Subversive Activities Control Board, 367 U.S. 1 (1961).] However, registration
of Communists under the Aet was later held to violate the Fifth Amendment
privilege against self-incrimination. [Albertson v. Subversive Activities Control
Board, 382 UV.8. 70 (1963).] The Emergency Detention Act was repealed in 1971.

" G8 Stat. 775 (1954), 50 U.S.C. 841-844. The constitutionality of the Communist
Control Act of 1954 has never been tested.

% In light of the facts now known, the Supreme Court seems to have overstated
the degree to which Congress had explicitly “charged” the FBI with intelligence
responsibilities :

“Congress has devised an all-embracing program for resistance to the various
forms of totalitarian aggression. . .. It has charged the Federal Bureau of
Investigation and the Central Intelligence Agency with responsibility for intelli-
cence concerning Communist seditious activities against our Government, and
has denominated such activities as part of a world conspiracy.” [Pennsylvania v.
Nelsnon, 350 U.S. 497, 504-505 (1956).]

This decision held that the federal government had preempted state sedition
laws, citing President Roosevelt’s September 1939 statement on FBI authority
and an address by FBI Director Hoover to state law enforcement officials in
August 1940,

% Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 325 (1957).

® Justice Douglas, who dissented on Fifth Amendment grounds, agreed with
the majority on the First Amendment issue:

“The Bill of Rights was designed to give fullest play to the exchange and dis-
semination of ideas that touch the politics, culture, and other aspects of our life.
When an organization is used by a foreign power to make advances here, ques-
tions of security are raised bevond the ken of disputation and debate between
the people resident here.” [Communist Party v. Subversive Activities Control
Board, 367 U.S. 1, 174 (1961).]
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by the zealous anti-Communism in Congress. According to one White
House statf member’s notes during the debate over the Internal
Security Act:

The President said that the situation . . . was the worst

it had been since the Alien and Sedition Laws of 1798, that

a lot of people on the Hill should know better but had been

stampeded into running with their tails between their legs.

Truman announced that he would veto the Internal Security Act
‘regardless of how politically unpopular it was—election year or
no clection year.” s But President Truman’s veto was overridden by
an overwhelming margin.
b. The Federal Employce Loyalty-Security Program

(1) Origins of the Program.—President Truman established a
federal employee loyalty program in 1947.%% Its basic features were
retained in the federal employee security program authorized by
President Eisenhower in public Executive Orvder 10450, which, with
some modifications, still applies today.®

Although it had a much broader reach, the program originated out
of well-founded concern that Soviet lntelhgence was then using the
Communist Party as a vehicle for the recruitment of espionage
agents.” President Truman appointed a Temporary Commision on
Emplovee Loyalty in 1946 to examine the problem. FBI Director
Hoover submitted a memorandum on the types of activities of “sub-
versive or disloyval persons™ in government service which would con-
stitute a “threat” to security. As Hoover saw it, however, the danger
was not limited to espionage or recruitment for espionage. It extended
to “influencing” government policies in favor of “the foreign country
of their 1(1001001(‘%] choice.” Consequently, he urged that attention
be given to the associations of government employees with “front”

I‘O"IDIZ‘IUOII@. including “tempmfuv organizations, ‘spontaneous’
campaigns, and pressure movements so fr equentl) used by subversive
groups.”

The President’s Commission accepted Director Hoover's broad view
of the threat. along with the view endorsed by a Presidential Com-
mission on Civil Rmhts that there also was a danger from “those who
would subvert our domovmo\' by ... destroying the civil rights of some
groups.” ** Consequently, the Executive Order included, asan indica-

*File memorandum of 8, J. Spingarn, assistant counsel to the President,
7/22/50. (Spingarn Papers, Harry S. Truman Library.)

% Executive Order 9835, 12 Fed. Reg. 1935 (1947).

® Executive Order 10450, 18 Fed. Reg. 2489 (1953).

® A report by a Canadian Royal Commission in June 1946 greatly influenced
United States government policy. The Royal Commission stated that “a number
of young Canadians, public servants and others, who begin with a desire to
advance causes which they consider worthy, have been induced into joining
study groups of the Communist Party. They are persuaded to keep this adherence
secret. They have been led step by step along the ingeneous psychological develop-
ment course . . . until under the influence of sophisticated and unscrupulous
leaders they have heen persuaded to engage in illegal activities directed against
the safety and interests of their own society.” The Royal Commission recom-
mended additional security measures “to prevent the infiltration into positions
of trust under the Government of persons likely to commit” such acts of espionage.
(The Report of the Royal Commission, 6/27/46, pp. 82-23. 686-689.)

7 Memorandum from the FBI Director to the President’s Temporary Commis-

sion on Employee Loyalty, 1/3/47.

“;President’s Committee on Civil Rights, To Secure These Rights (1947),
p. 52.
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tion of dislovalty, membership in or association with groups desig-
nated on an “.Attorney General's list™ as:
totalitarian, fascist, communist, or subversive, or as having
adopted a policy of advocating or approving the commission
of acts of force or violence to deny others their rights under
the Constitution of the United States, or as seeking to alter
the form of government of the United States by unconstitu-
tional means.™
The Exceutive Ovder was used to provide a legal basis for the FBI's
investigation ot allegedly “subversive” organizations which might fall
within these categorie” Such investigations supplied a body of in-
telligence data against which to check the names of prospective fed-
eral employees.® .
(2) Breadth of the Lnrestigations—By the mid-1950s. the Bureau
v - Y . - :/ X . ~ v-
believed that the Communist Party was no longer used for Soviet
espionage: it represented only a “potential™ recruiting ground for
spies.? Thereafter. FBI investigations of Communist organizations
and other groups unconnected to espionage but falling within the
standards of the Attorney General's Jist frequently became a means
for monitoring the political background of prospective federal em-
plovees by means of the *name check™ of Bureau files. These mvesti-
gations also served the “pure intelligence™ function of informing the
Attorney General of the influence and organizational affiliations of so-
called “subversives.” o7
. S , .

No organizations were formally added to the Attorney General’s
list after 1955.%% TTowever, the FBI's “*name cheek™ reports on prospec-
tive employees were never limited to information about listed orvga-
nizations. The broad standards for placing a group on the Attorney
General's list were used to evaluate an employee’s background, regard-
less of whether or not he was a member of a group on the list.” If a
“name check™ uncovered information about a prospective employee’s
association with a group which might come within those standards. the
® Executive Order 9833, part I, section 2; ¢f. Executive Order 10450, section
S(a) (3).

®In 1960, for instance, the Justice Department advised the FBI to continue
investigating an organization not on the Attorney General's list in order to secure
“additional information . . . relative to the criteria” of the employee security
order. (Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General J. Walter Yeagley to
J. Edgar Hoover, 5/17/60.)

“ FBI “name checks” are authorized as one of the “national ageneies checks”
required by Executive Order 10450, section 3(a).

“FBI Monograph, “The Menace of Communism in the United Statex Today”,
7/2_!)/55. pp. iv—v. See footnote 271,

*The FBI official in eharge of the Internal Recurity Section of the Intelli-
geney Division in the fifties and early sixties testified that the primary purpose
of FBI investigations of communist “infiltration” was to advise the Attorney
General so that he could determine whether a group should go on the Attorney
General's list. He alxo testified that investigations for this purpose continued
after the Attorney General ceased adding names of groups to the list. (F. J.
Baumgardner testimony., 10/8/75, pp. 45-19.) See pp. 4849 for discussion of the
FFBI's COMINFIL program.

*Memoranda from the Attorney General to heads of Departments and Agencies,
4/29/53; T/15/53: 0/28/53 1 1/22/54. Groups designated prior to that time

ineluded numerous defunct German and Japanese societies, Communist and Com-
munist “front” organizations, the Socialist Workers Party. the Nationalist I’arty
of Puerto Rico, and several Ku Klux Klan organizations.

* Executive Order 10450, section 8(a) (5).
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FBI would report the data and attach a “characterization™ of the orga-
nization relating to the standards. 1

(3) FBI Control of Loyalty-Security Investigations—TPresident
Eisenhower’s 1953 order specifically designated the FBI as responsible
for *a full field investigation™ whenever a “name cheek™ or a back-
ground investigation by the Civil Service Comniission ot any other
agency uncovered information indicating a potential security risk.!
President Truman had refused to give the Bureau this exclusive power
initially, but he fought a losing battle,

Director Hoover hdd 01)]0(‘te(1 that President Truman’s order did not
give the FBI excusive power and threatened “to withdraw from this
field of investigation rather than to engage in a tug of war with the
Civil Service (ommmmon 105 President Truman was apprehensive
about the FBI's growing power. The notes of one presidential aide on a
meeting with the President reflect that Truman felt “very strongly
anti-FBI™ on the issue and wanted “to be sure and hold FBT down,
afraid of ‘Gestapo.” ™1

Presidential assistant Clark Clifford reviewed the situation and
came down on the side of the FBI as “better qualified” than the Civil
Service Commission.'” But the President insisted on a compromise
which gave Civil Service “discretion” to call on the FBI “if it
wishes.”™ 1 Director IToover protested this “confusion™ about the FBI's
jurisdiction.’*” When Justice Department officials warned that Con-
gress would “find flaws”™ with the compromise, President Truman
noted on a memorandum from Clifford :

J. Edgar will in all probability get this backward looking
Congress to give him what he wants. It’s dangerous.'*®

President’s Truman's prediction was correct. His budget request of
$16 million for Civil Service and $8.7 million for the FBI to conduct
loyalty investigations was revised by Congress to allocate $7.4 million
to the FBI and only $3 million to Civil Service.1%" The issue was finally
resolved to the FBT's satisfaction when the President issued a state-
ment declaring that there were “to be no exceptions” to the rule that
the FBI would make all loyalty investigations.”®

™ The FBI's field offices were supplied with such “thumb-nail sketches” or
characterizations to supplement the Attorney General's list and the reports of the
House Committee on Un-American Activities. (F.g., SAC Letter No. 60-34,
7/12/60.)

1 Executive Order 10450, section 8(d).

2 The reference to a “full field investigation™ where there was “derogatory
information with respect to loyalty” did not, in the Truman order, say who would
conduct the investigation. (Executive Order 9833, part I, section 4.)

1 Memoranda from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Tom Clark, 3/19/47
and 3/31/47.

% Pile memorandum of George M. Elsey. 5/2/47. (Harry 8. Truman Library.)

™ Memorandum from C'ark Clifford to the I'resident, 5/7/47.

% Memorandum from Clark Clifford to the President, 5/9/47; letter from
President Truman to H. B. Mitchell, U.S. Civil Service Commission, 5/9/4%.
(Harry 8. Truman Library.)

Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Clark, 5/12/47.

" Memorandum from Clark Clifford to the President, 5/9/47. (Iarry S.
Truman Library.)

® Eleanor Bontecou. The Federal Loyalty-Seenrity Program (Ithaca: Cornell
University Press, 1953), pp. 33-34.

¥ Memorandum from J. R. Steelman, Assistant to the President, to the Attor-
ney General, 11/3/47.
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e, Executive Directives: Lack of Guidunce and Controls

Two public presidential statements on FBI domestic intelligence au-
thority—by P es1dent Truman in 1950 and by President El%nhm\er
in 1953 declared that the BT was authorized to investi-

gate “subversive activity.” electing the broader interpretation of the
conﬂlctnw Roosevelt dirvectives. Morcover. a confidential directive of
the National Security Council in 1949 granted authority to the I‘BI
and military intelligence for investigation of “subversive activities.”
In 1962 President I\onned\' issued a confidential order shifting super-
vision of these investigations from the NSC to the Attorney General
and the NSC’s 1949 authorizations weve reissued by Attorney General
Kennedy in 1964.

As with the ecarlier Roosevelt directives, these statements, orders
and authorizations Luled to provide guidance on condueting or con-
trolling “subversive’” investigations.

T'nder President Truman, the Interdepartmental Intelligence Con-
ference (IIC) ™ was formally authorized in 1949 to supervise
coordination between the FBI and the military of “all investigation of
domestic espionage, counterespionage. babotd(re. subrersion, and other
related intelligence matters affecting internal s security.” 12 [ Emphasis
added.]

The confidential Delimitations Agreement between the FBI and
the military intelligence agencies was also revised in 1949 to require
greater exchange of “information of mutual interest™ and to require
the FBI to advise military mntelligence of developments concerning
“subversive” groups who were “potontml dangers to the security of
the United States.!™?

In 1950, after the outbreak of the Korean war and in the midst
of Congressional consideration of new internal security legislation,
Director Hoover recommended that Attorney General J. Howard
MeGrath 1 and the NSC draft a statement which President Truman
1issued inJuly 1950 providing that the FB3I:

should take charge of investigative work in matters relating
to espionage, sabotage, subrersive activities and related
matters.™ [ Emphasis added. |

" In a March 1949 directive on coordination of internal security President
Truman approved the creation of the Interdepartmental Intelligence Conference
(“ITC"). Memorandum by J. P. Coyne, Major Chronological Developments on the
Subject of Internal Security, 4/8/49 (Harry 8. Truman Library)., and NSC
Memorandum 17/4, 3/23/49.

MENSC Memorandum 17/3, 6/15/49. The National Security Council was estab-
lished by the National Security Act of 1947, which authorized the NSC to advise
the President with respect to “the integration of domestic, foreign, and military
policies” relating to the “national security.” (Section 101 of the National Se-
curity Aet of 1947.) Under this authority, the NSC then approved a secret charter
for the ICC, composed of the FBI Director (as chairman) and the heads of the
three military intelligence agencies.

3 Delimitation of Investigative Duties and Agreement for Coordination,
2/23/49. A supplementary agreement required FBI and military intelligence
officials in the field to “maintain close personal liaison,” particularly to avoid
“duplication in . .. the use of informers.” Where there was “doubt” as to whether
another agency was interested in information. it “should be transmitted.”
(Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the Delimitation Agreement, 6/2/49.)

M Letter from Attorney General MceGrath to Charles 8. Murphy, Counsel to
the President, 7/11/50.

' Statement of President Truman, 7/24/50.
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Despite concern among his assistants® President Truman’s
statement clearly placed him on the record as endorsing FBI investi-
gations of “subversive activities.” The statement said that such in-
vestigations had been authorized initially by President Roosevelt’s
“directives™ of September 1939 and January 1943. However, those
particular directives had not used this precise language.t*s

Shortly after President Eisenhower took office in 1953, the FBI
advised the White House that its “internal security responsibility™
went beyond “statutory™ authority. The Bureau attached a copy of the
Truman statement. but not the Roosevelt directive. The FBI again
broadly interpreted the Roosevelt (1i1‘ecti\o by saying that it had au-
thorized “investigative work™ related to “subversive activities,” 1’7

In December 1953 President Eisenhower issued a statement reiterat-
ing President Truman’s “directive™ and extending the FBT's mandate
to ln\'(‘sfl(THf]()lN under the Atomic Energy Act.1®

President Kennedy iszued no pul)h(‘ statement comparable to the
Roosevelt, Truman. and Eisenhower “directives.” However, in 1962
he did transfer the Inter depar tmontfll Intelligence Conference to “the
supervision of the Attorney General:” 12 and in 1964 Attorney General
Robert Kennedy re-issued the ITC' charter, citing as fmthontv the
President’s 1962 order and retaining the term ¢ ‘subversion.” The char-
ter added that it did not “modify™ or “affect” the previous “Presi-
dential Directives™ relating to the duties of the FBI, and that the
Delimitations Agreement between the FBI and military intelligence
“shall remain in full force and effect.” 120

None of the directives, orders. or charters provided any definition
of the broad and loose terms “subversion” or “subversive activities;”
and none of the administrations provided effective controls over the
FBT's investigations in this area.

3. Scope of Domestic Intelligence
a. “Subrersive Activities”

The breadth of the FBI's investigations of “subversive activity™ led
to massive collection of information on law abiding citizens. FBI
domestic intelligence investigations extended bey ond known or sus-
pected Communist Party members. They included other individuals
who 1egzarded the Soviet U"nion as the “clnmplon of a supertor way of
life” and “persons holding important positions who have shown sym-
pathy for Communist objectives and policies.” Members of “non-Stal-

3% One noted, “This is the most inscrutable Presidential statement I've seen
in a long time.” Another asked, “How in H-——— did this get out?’ A third
replied, “Don’'t know—I thought you were handling.” Notes initialed D. Bell,
SJS (8. J. Spingarn), and GWE (George W. Elsey), 7/24-25/50 (Elsey Papers,
Harry 8. Truman Library). Even before the statement was issued, one of these
aides had warned the President’s counsel that the Justice Department was
attempting “an end run.” [Memorandum from G. W. Elsey to Charles S. Murphy,
Councsel to the President, 7/12/50. (Murphy Papers, Harry S. Truman Library.) ]

18 See footnotes 19 and 22.

W Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Sherman Adams, Assistant to the President,
1/28/53, and attached memorandum on “FBI Liaison Activities,” 1/26/53.

% Statement of President Eisenhower, 12/15/53.

9 National Security Action \Iemorandum 161, Subject: U.S. Internal Security
Programs, 6/9/62.

¥ Memorandum from Attorney General Kennedy to J. Edgar Hoover, Chair-
man, Interdepartmental Intelligence Conference, 3/5/64.
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inist” revolutionary socialist groups were investigated because, even
though they opposed the Soviet regime, the I BI viewed them as re-
7axdmg the Soviet Union “as the center for world revolution.” 12t
Moreover, the FBI's concept of “subversive infiltration” was so broad
that it permitted the investigation for decades of peaceful protest
groups such as the NAACP.

(1) The Number of Inrestigations.—By 1960 the FBI had opened
approximately 432,000 files at headquarters on individuals and groups
in the “subversive” intelligence field. Between 1960 aud 1963 an addi-
tional 9.000 such files were opened.’*® An even larger number of in-
vestigative files were maintained at FBI field offices.’?® Under the
Bureau's filing svstem, a single file on a group could include references
to hundreds or thousands of group members or other persons associated
with the group in any way; and such names were indexed so that the
information was readily retrievable.

(2) Vagiee and Sweeping Standards~—The FBI conducted continu-
ing investigations of persons whose membership in the Communist
Pa]t\ or in “a revolutionary group™ had “not been proven,’ " but who

had “anarchizstic or 10\0111t1<)n(n.\ beliefs™ and had “cotmitted past
acts of violence during strikes. riots. or demonstrations.” Persons
not currently engaged in “activity of a subversive nature”™ were sti]l
investigated if the\ had engaged in such activity “sever al vears ago™
and there was no “positive “indication of disaffeetion.” 12¢

The FBT Manual stated that it was “not possible to formulate any
hard-and-fast standards™ for measuring “the dangerousness of mn-
dividual members or afliliates of revolutlonan mmmmtlons Per-
sons could be investigated if they were “espousing “the line™ of “rev-
olutionary movements™. Anonymous allegations “could start an in-
vestigation if they were “sufficiently spomﬁ(’ and of suflicient weight.”
The Manual added.

Where there is doubt an individual may be a current threat
to the internal security of the nation. the question should
be resolved in the interest of security and investigation
conducted.”®?

The FBI Manual did not define *subversive™ groups in terms of
their links to a foreign government. Instead. they were “Marxist
revolutionary-type™ organizations “seeking the overthrow of the 1.8,
(rovernment.” ¥ One purpose of investigation was possible prosecu-

! Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Clark, 3/5/46.

22 Memorandum from the FBI to the Senate Select Committee, 10/28/75. An
indication of the breadth of the investigations is illustrated by the fact that
the number of files far exceeded the Bureau's estimate of the “all time high” in
Communist Party membership which was 80.000 in 1944 and steadily declined
thereafter. (William €. Sullivan testimony, 11/1/73. pp. 33-34.)

¥ Report to the House Committee on the Judiciary by the Comptroller General
of the United States, 2/24/76, pp. 118-119.

# Quch investigations were conducted because the Communist Party had issued
instructions that “‘sleepers” should leave the Party and go “underground,” still
mainfaining secret links to the Party. (Memorandum from J. F. Bland to A. I.
Belmont, 7/30/58.)

“Refusal to cooperate" with an FBI agent's interview was “taken into con-
sideration along with other facts” in determining whether to continue the in-
vestigation. (Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Deputy Attorney General
Peyton Ford, 6/28/51.)

1960 FRBI Manual Section 87, p. 5.

1960 FBI Manual Section 87, p. 5.
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tion under the Smith Act. But no prosecutions were initiated under
the Act after 1957.%7 The Justice Department advised the FBI in
1956 that such a prosccution required “an actual plan for a violent
revolution.” ** The Department’s position in 1960 was that “incite-
ment to action in the foreseeable future™ was needed.’®® Despite the
strict requirements for prosecution. the FBI continued to investigate
“subversive™ organizations “from an intelligence viewpoint™ to ap-
praise their *strength” and “dangerousness.” 1 .

(3) COMINFIL.—The FBI's broadest program for collecting intel-
ligence was carried out under the heading COMINFIL, or Communist
infiliration.”* The FBI collected intelligence about Communist “1n-
fluence” under the following categories:

Political activities
Legislative activities
Domestic administration issues
Negro question
Youth matters
Wonien's matters
Farmers' Matters
Cultural activities
Veterans’ matters
Religion

Education

Industry *#*

FBI investigations covered “the entire spectrum of the social and
labor movement in the country.” 1** The purpose—as publicly disclosed
in the Attorney General's Annual Reports—was pure intelligence:
to “fortify” the Government against “subversive pressures.” ' or to
“strengthen™ the Government against “subversive campaigns,” '3

In other words, the COMINFIL program supplied the Attorney
General and the President with intelligence about a wide range of
groups seeking to influence national poliey under the rationale of de-
termining whether Communists were Involved.’® The FBI said it was
not concerned with the “legitimate activitics™ of *“nonsubversive
groups,” but only with whether Communists were “gaining a dominant

¥ The Supreme Court’s last decision upholding a Smith Act conviction was
Reales v. United States, 367 U.K, 203 (1961). which reiterated that there must
be “advocacy of action.” See Yates v. United States, 354+ U.S, 298 (1957).

8 Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General Tompkins to Director, FBI,
3/15/56.

2 Aemorandum from Assistant Attorney General Yeagley to Director, FBI,
5/17/60.

01960 FBI Manual:sSection 87, p. 5.

31960 FBT Manual Section 87, pp. 83-84.

321960 FBI Manual Section 87, pp. 5-11.

' Annual Report of the Attorney General for Fiscal Year 1935. p. 195.

* Annual Report for 1958, p. 338.

% Annual Report for 1964, p. 375.

* (Examples of such reports to the White House are set forth later, pp. 51-
53.) The Chief of the Internal Security Section of the IPBI Intelligence Divi-
sion in 1948-1966 testified that the Bureau "had to be certain” that a group’s
position did not coincide with the Communist line “just by accident.” The FBI
would not “open a case” until it had “specific information™ that “the Communists
were there” and were “influencing” the group to “assist the Communist move-
ment.” (F. .J. Baumgardner testimony, 10/8/75 p. 47.)



49
role.” #¥7 Nevertheless, COMINTFIL reports inevitably described
“legitimate activities™ totally unrelated to the alleged “subversive ac-
tivity.” This 1s vividly demonstrated by the COMINFIL reports on
American’s leading civil rights group in this period, the NAACP.138
The investigation “continued for at least twenty-five yvears in cities
throughout the nation. although no evidence was ever found to rebut
the observation that the NAXCTP had a “strong tendency™ to *“‘steer
clear of Communist activities.” 1%

(4) Fraggeration of Communist Liflucnce.—~The FBI and the Jus-
tice Department justified the continuation of COMINFIL investiga-
tions, despite the Communist Party's steady decline in the fifties and

early sixities. on the theory that the Party was “Seelunw to repair its
lTogses™ with the “hope™ of being able to “move in™ on movements with
“laudable objectives,™ 1"

The FBT reported to the White House in 1961 that the Communist
Party had “attempted™ to take advantage of “racial disturbances™ in
the South and had “endeavored™ to bring “pressure to bear™ on gov-
ernment officials “through the press. labor unions, and student groups.”
At that time the FBI was investigating “two hundred known or sus-
pected communist front and communist-infiltrated mgunzatlons 1
By not stating how effective the “attempts™ and “endeavors™ of the
Communists were, and by not indicating whether they were becoming
more or less successful, the FBI offered a deficient rationale for its
sweeping intelligence collection poliey.

William €. Sullivan, a former head of the FBT Intelligence Division,
has testified that such language was deliberately usc(l to exaggerate
tho threat of Communist influence. “Attempts™ and “influence™ were

“very sigmificant words™ in FBI reports. he said. These terms obscured
what he felt to be the more significant criterion—the degree of Com-
munist suceess. The Bureau “did not diseuss this because we would
have to say that they did not hit the target, hardly any.” 42

A distorted pJ(-tmo of Communist “infiltration” ]‘ltel served to just-
ify the I'BI's intensive investigations of the groups involved in protests
against the Vietnam War and rhe civil nﬂht% movement. including Dr.
Martin Luther King. Jr.. and the Southern Christian Leader ship ‘Con-
ference.

# Annual Report for 1935, p. 195.

3 For more detailed disenssion of the FBI investigations of the NAACP and
other civil rights groups see the Report on the Development of FBI Domestic
Intelligence Investigations.

¥ Report of Oklahoma City Field Office, 9/19/41. This report continued:
“Nevertheless, there is a strong movement on the part of the Communists to at-
tempt to dominate this group . .. Consequently, the activities of the NAACP will
he ¢losely observed and cerutinized in the future.” [ Emphasis added.] This stress
on Communist “attempts” rather than their actual achievements is typical of
COMINFIL reports. The annual reports on the FBI's COMINFIL investigation
of the NAACD indicate that the Communists consistently failed in these “at-
fempts" at the national level. although the Bureau took credit for using covert
tacties to prevent a Communist takeover of a major NAACP chapter. (Tetter
from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General-elect Robert F. Kennedy, 1/10/61
attached memorandum, subject: Communist Party, USA-FBI Counterattack.)

' Annual Report of the Attorney General for Fiscal Year 1959, pp. 247-248.

M Afemorandum from J. Edgar Hoover, Chairman, Inferdepartmental Intel-
ligence Conference, to MeGeorge Bundy, Speeial Assistant to the President for
National Security, 7/25/61, enclosing ITC Report, Status of U.S. Internal Security
Programs.

M William C. Sullivan testimony, 11/1/75. pp. 40—41.

68-786 O - 76 - 5
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b. “Raciul Uatters™ and “Hate Giroups”

Tn the 1950=, the BT also developed intelligence programs to inves-
tigate “Racial Matters™ and “hate organizations™ unrelated to “revolu-
tionary-type” =ubversives. “Ilate organizations™ were investigated if
they had “allogedly adopted a poliey of advocating, condoning, or in-
citing the use of foree or violence to deny others their rights under the
Constitution.” Like the COMINFIL program. however, the Bureau
used its “established sources™ to monitor the activities of “hate groups™
which did not *qualify™ under the “advocacy of violence™ standard.™*

In 1963. FBI tfield oftices were instrueted to report “the formation
and identities™ of “rightist or extremist groups™ in the “anticommunist
field.™ Teadquarters approval was needed for investigating “groups
in this field whose activities are not in violation of any statutes.” '

Under these programs, the FBI collected and disseminated intelli-
gence about the John Birch Society and its founder, Robert Welch,
in 1959.1% The activities of another right-wing spokesman, Gerald
L. K. Smith, who headed the Christian Nationalist Crusade. were
the subject of FBI reports cven after the Justice Department had
concluded that the group had not violated federal law and that there
was no basis for including the group on the “Attorney General’s
list.” 146

The FBI program for collecting intelligence on “General Racial
Matters™ was even broader. It went beyond “race rviots™ to include
“oivil demonstrations™ and “similar developments.” These “develop-
ments” included :

proposed or actual activities of individuals, officials, commit-
tees, legislatures, organizations, ete., in the racial field.'*”
b = b = ) Y

The FBI’s “intelligence function™ was to advise “appropriate™ fed-
eral and local officials of “pertinent information™ about “racial inei-
dents.” 148

A briefing of the Cabinet by Director Hoover in 1956 illustrates
the breadth of collection and dissemination under the racial matters
program. The briefing covered not only incidents of violence and the
“offorts™ and “plans™ of Communists to “influence” the civil rights
movement, but also the legislative strategy of the NAACP and the
activities of Southern Governors and Congressmen on behalf of groups
opposing integration peacefully.’*

#1960 FBI Manual Section 122, p. 1.

M QAC Letter No. 63-27, 6/11/63.

% The FBI has denied that it ever conducted a “security-type investigation™
of the Birch Society or Welch, but states the Boston field office *‘was instructed
in 1959 to obtain background data” on Welch using public sources. (Memoran-
dum from the FBI to the Senate Select Committee, 2/10/76.) A 1963 internal
FBI memorandum stated that the Bureau “checked into the background of the
Birch Society because of its scurrilous attack on President Eisenhower and
other high Government officials.” (Memorandum from I'. J. Baumgarduner to
W. (. Sullivan, 5/29/63.) Reports were sent to the White House, see footnote 164,

¥ Lotter from Assistant Attorney General Tompkins to Sherman Adams,
Assistant to the President, 11/22/54; letters from J. Edgar Hoover to Robert
Cutler, Special Assistant to the President, 10/15/57, and 1/17/58. (Eisenhower
Library.)

71960 FBT Manual Section 122, pp. 5-6.

11960 FBI Manual Section 122, pp. 5-6.

e wRacial Tensions and Civil Rights,” 3/1/56, statement used by the FBI
Director at Cabinet briefing, 3/9/56.
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c. FBI Political Intelligence for the White House

Numerous items of political intelligence were supplied by the FB1
to the White Touse in each of the three administrations during the
Cold War era, apparently satisfying the desires of Presidents and
their stafls.15

President Truman and his aides received regular letters from Di-
rector Hoover labeled “Personal and Confidential” containing tidbits
of political intelligence. The letters reported on such subjects as:
inside information about the negotiating position of a non-Commu-
nist labor union; ! the activities of a former Roosevelt aide who was
trying to influence the Truman administration’s appointments; % a
report from a *confidential source™ that a “scandal™ was brewing which
would be “very embarrassing” to the Democratic administration; %% a
report from a “very confidential source” about a meeting of news-
paper representatives in Chicago to plan publication of stories expos-
ing organized crime and corrupt politicians; *** the contents of an
in-house communication from Newsireck magazine reporters to their
editors about a story they had obtained from the State Department.*?®
and criticism of the government’s internal seeurity programs by a
former Assistant to the Attorney General.’?

Letters discussing Communist “influence” provided a considerable
amount. of extraneous information about the legislative process, in-
clnding lobbying activities in support of civil rights legislation *** and
the political activities of Senators and Congressmen.**

President Eisenhower and his aides received similar tid-bits of po-
litical intelligence, including an advance text of a speech to be deliv-
ered by a prominent labor leader,® reports from Burean “sources” on
the meetings of an NAACTP delegation with Senators Paul Douglas
and Everett Dirksen of Tllinois; % the report of an “informant” on
the role of the United Auto Workers 1nion at an NAACP confer-
ence,® summaries of data in FBT files on thirteen persons (including
Norman Thomas, Linus Pauling. and Bertrand Russell) who had filed
suit to stop nuclear testing,'* a report of a “confidential source” on
plans of Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt to hold a reception for the head of

P See p. 37 for discussion of White House wiretap requests in 1945-1048.

¥ Letter from J. Edgar FHoover to George E. Allen, Director, Reconstruction
Finance Corporation, 12/13/46. (Harry 8. Truman Library.)
% Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Maj. Gen. Harry H. Vaughn, Military Aide
to the President, 2/15/47. (Harry 8. Truman Library.)

"_“ Letter from Hoover to Vaughn, 6/25/47. (Harry S. Truman Library.)

™ Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Matthew .J. Connelly, Secretary to the Presi-
dent, 1/27/50. (Harry 8. Truman Library.)

% Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Clark, 4/1/46.
(Harry 8. Truman Library.)

¥ Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Maj. Gen. Harry H. Vaughn. Military Aide
to trl_xe President, 11/13/47. (Harry S, Truman Library.)

¥ Letters from J. Edgar Hoover to Brig. Gen. Harry H. Vaughn, Military Aide
to rthe President, 1/11/46 and 1/17/46. (Harry S. Truman Library.)

%8 Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to George E. Allen, Director, Reconstruction
Finance Corporation, 5/29/49. (Harry . Truman Library.)

P Letter from J. Edgar loover to Dillon Anderson, Special Assistant to the
President, 4/21/55. (Eisenhower Library.)

¥ Tetter from Hoover to Anderson, 3/6/536. (Eisenhower Library.)

! Letter from Hoover to Anderson, 3/5/56. (Eisenhower Library.)

* Letter from J. Edgar Ioover to Dillon Anderson, Special Assistant to the
President, 4/11/58. (Eisenhower Library.)
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a civil rights group,® and reports on the activities of Robert Welch
and the John Birch Society.!™

The FBI also volunteered to the White ITouse information from its
most “reliable sources™ on purely political or social contacts with for-
eign government officials by a Deputy Assistant to the President."
Bernard Baruch* Suprenie Cowrt Justice William Q. Douglas%
and Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt.!s

Director Hoover sent to the White House a report from a “confiden-
tial informant™ on the lobbying activities of a C'alifornia aroup called
Women for Legislative Action because its positions “paralleled™ the
Communist. line.”

Asin the prior administrations. requests also flowed from the Eisen-
hower White House to the FBI.'® For example. a presidential aide
asked the FBI to check its files on Rev. Carl McIntyre of the Tuter-
national Council of Christian Churches.?™

The pattern continned during the Kennedy administration. .\ sum-
mary of material in FBI files on a prominent entertainer was volun-
teered to Attorney (General Kennedy because Ioover thought it “may
be of interest.” 172 Attorney General Kennedy sent to the President an
FBI memorandum on the purely personal life of Dr. Martin Luther
King, Jr.'™ Director Hoover supplied Attorney General Kennedy with
background information on a woman who told an Ttalian newspaper
that she had once been engaged to marry President Kennedy ' and on
the husband of a woman who was reported in the press to have stated
that the President’s danghter wonld enroll in a cooperative nursery
with which she was connected.’™ The FBI Director also passed on

' Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Robert Cutler, Special Assistant to the
President, 2/13/58. (Eisenhower Library.) The group was deseribed as the
“successor” to a group cited by the House Un-American Activities Committee
as a “communist front.”

* Letters from J. Edgar Hoover to Gordon Gray, Special Assistant to the
President, 9/11/59 and 9/16/59.

5 Letter from Hoover to Cutler, 6/6/58. (Eisenhower Library). This involved
contact with a foreign official whose later contacts with U.S. officials were reported
by the FBI under the Kennedy Administration in connection with the “sugar
lobhy."" see pp. 64-63.

% Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Dillon Anderson, Special Assistant to the
President, 11/7/35. (Eisenhower Library.)

¥ Letters from J. Edgar Hoover to Robert Cutler, Administrative Assistant
to the President, 4/21/33 and 4/27/53. (Eisenhower Library.)

™ Tetter from Hoover to Cutler, 10/1/57. (Eisenhower Library.)

* Letter from Hoover to Gray, 11/9/59. (Eisenhower Library.) Hoover added
that membership in the group “does not, of itself, connote membership in or
sympathy with the Communist Party.”

T Requests under the Roosevelt and Truman administrations, including wire-
tap requests, are discussed at pp. 33 and 37.

™ Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Thomas E. Stephens, Secretary to the
President, 4/13/54. (Eisenhower Library.)

* Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to R. F. Kennedy, 2/10/61, “Personal.”
(John F. Kennedy Library.)

¥ Memorandum from the Attorney General to the President, 8/20/63, attach-
ing memorandum from Hoover to Deputy Attorney General Katzenbach, 8/13/63.
(John F. Kennedy Library.)

™ Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to R. F. Kennedy, 2/6/61, “Personal.”
(John I". Kennedy Library.)

5 Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to R. F. Kennedy, 2/8/61, “Personal.”
(John I. Kennedy Library.)
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mformation from a Bureau “source” regarding plans of a group to
publish allegzations about the President’s personal life

In 1962 the FBI complied unquestioningly with a request from At-
torney General Kennedy to interview a Steel Company executive and
several reporters who had written stories about the Steel executive.
The interviews were conducted late at night and early in the morning
because. according to the responsible BI official, the Attorney Gen-
eral indicated the information was needed for a White ouse meeting
the next day.'™*

Throughout the period. the Bureau also disseminated reports to
high executive officials to discredit its critics. The FBI's inside infor-
mation on plans of the Lawyvers Guild to denounce Bureau surveil-
lance in 1949 gave the Attorney General the opportunity to prepare a
rebuttal well n advance of the expected criticism.™ When the Knox-
ville Area Human Relations Couneil charged in 1960 that the FBI was
practicing racial diserimination, the FBI did “name checks™ on mem-
ber of the Council's board of directors and sent the results to the At-
tornev (General. The name checks dredged up derogatory allegations
from as far back as the late thirties and early forties*™

d. IRS Investigations of Political Organizations

The IRS program that came to be used against the domestic dissi-
dents of the 19603 was first used against Communists in the 1950s.
As part of its COINTELPRO against the Communist Party. the
FBI arranged for TRS investigations of Party members. and ob-
tained their tax returns.’® In its efforts against the Communist Party.
the FBI had unlimited access to tax returns: it never told the IRS why
it wanted them, and IRS never attempted to find out.’®!

In 1961. 1e%pondm(r to White House and congressional interest in
right-wing organizations. the IRS began ('ompwhensl\o investiga-
tions of 1'1crht wing groups to 1dent1tv contributors and ascertain
whether or not some of them were entitled to their tax exempt status.**?
Left-wing groups were later added. in an effort to avold charges that
stuch TRS activities were all aimed at one part of the political Sl)(‘CtI um.
Both right- and left-wing groups were selected for review and investi-
gation because of their political activity and not because of any infor-
mation that they had violated the tax laws.™?

While the IRN efforts begun in 1961 to investigate the political
activities of tax exempt organizations were not as extensive as later

" Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to R. F. Kennedy, 11/20/63. (John F.
K(\Ene(ly Library.)

¥ Memorandum from Attorney General Kennedy to the President, 4/12/62 en-
closing memorandum from Director, FBI, to the Attorney General. 4/12/62;
testimony of Courtney Fvans, former Assistant Director. FI3, 12/1/75, p. 39,

" Letter from Attorney General McGrath to President Truman. 12/7/49; letter
from J. Edgar IHoover to Maj. Gen. Harry H. Vaugln, Military Aide to the Presi-
dent. 1/114/50.

™ Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Aftorney General William . Rogers,

23/60.

““ Memorandum from A. I Belmont to I.. V. Boardwmau, 8/28/56, p. 4.

! Leon Green testimony, 9/12/75, pp. 6-8,

3 Memorandum, William Loeb, Assistant Commissioner, Compliance to Dem.
J. Barron, Director of Audit, 11/30/61.

M AMemorandum, Attorney Assistant to Commission to Director, IRS Audit
Division, 4/2/62,
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programs in 1969-1973, they were a significant departure by the IRS
from normal enforcement criteria for investigating persons or groups
on the basis of information indicating noncomphance. By directing
tax audits at individuals and groups solely because of their political
beliefs, the Tdeological Organizations Audit Project (as the 1961 pro-
gram was l\nm\’n)M established a precedent for a far morve elaborate
program of targeting “dissidents.” 1%

b Aecountability and Control

During the Cold War period, there were serious weaknesses in the
system of acconntability and confrol of domestic intelligence activity.
On oceasion the executive chose not to comply with the will of Congress
with respect to internal security policy : and the Congressional attempt
to exclude U.S. foreign intelligence agencies from domestic activities
was evaded. Intollltwmo agencies also conducted covert programs in
violation of laws plote(tmn the rights of Americans. Problems of ae-
countability were compounded by “the lack of effective congressional
oversight and the vagueness of executive orders, which allow ‘od intelli-
gence agencies to escape outside scrutiny.

The Emergency Detention At

In 1946, four vears before the Emergency Detention Act of 1950
was passed, the FBT advised Attorney General Clark that it had
secretly compiled a security index of “potentially dangerous™ per-
sons.* The Justice Department then made tentative pl,ms for emer-
geney detention based on suspension of the privilege of the writ of
habeas corpus.™ Departuient officials deliberately avoided going to
Congress, advising the FBI in a “blind memorandum :”

The present is no time to seek legisiation. To ask for it would
only bring on a loud and acrimonious discussion.’™s

In 1950, however, Congress passed the Itmergency Detention Act
which osmbhbhed stdnddlds and pxocedme% for the detentlon ln the
event of war, invasion or insurrection *'in aid of a foreign enemy * of
any person :

as to whom there is reasonable ground to believe that such
person probably will engage in, or probably will conspire with
others to engage in, acts of esplonage or sabotage.

The Act did not authorize the suspension of the privilege of the writ
of habeas corpus, and it provided that detained persons could appeal to
a review board and to the courts.”®

Shortly after passage of the Detention Act, according to a Bureau
document, Attorney General J. Howard MeGrath told the FBI to

M IRRK referred to it as Tax Political Action Groups Project. It was apparently

labeled as ahove by the Joint Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation.
See pp. 496 for diseussion of later IRS programs.

¥ Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Clark, 3/8/46. See
footnote 67 for the origins of the Security Index in contravention of Attorney
General Biddle's poliey.

" Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General T. L. Caudle to Attorney Gen-
eral Clark, 7/11/46.

* Quoted in internal ¥BI memorandum from D. M. Ladd to J. Edgar Hoover,
1/22/48,

™ Internal Security Act of 1950, Title I[—Emergency Detention, 64 Stat. 987
(1950).
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disregard it and to “proceed with the prograni as previously outlined.”
Department officials stated that the Aet was ~in confliet with™ their
plans, and was “unworkable.” IF'B1 officials agreed that the statutory
procedures—such as “recourse to the courts™ instead of susponsmn of
habeas corpus—would “destroy™ their program.' Moreover, the Secu-
rity Index used broader standards to determine “potential danger-
ousness” than those prescribed in the statute: and. unlike the Aet,
Department plans provided for issuing a Master Search Warrant and
a Master Arrest Warrant,”' T'wo blll)b(‘qtl(’llt Attorneys (reneral
endorsed the decision to ignore the Emergency Detention Aet.1?

b Withholding Luformation
Not only did the FBT and the Justice Department jointly keep their
noncomphance with the Detention Act secret from Congress. but the
BT withheld important aspects of its program from the Attorney
(reneral. FBI personnel had been instructed in 1949 that :

no mention must be made in any investigative report relating
to the classifications of top functionaries and key figures, nor
to the Detcom and Comsal Programs, nor to the Security
Index or the Communist Index. These investigative proce-
dures and administrative aides are confidential and should
not be known to any outside agency.’

FBI documents indicate that only the Security Index was made known
to the Justice Department.

In 1955, the FBI tightened formal standards for the Security Index,
reducing its size from 26.174 to 12,870 by 1958.1** However, there 1s no
indication that the FBI told the Department that it kept the names of
persons taken off the Security Index on a Communist Index, l)ec(mse
the Bureau believed such persons remained “potential threats.” 142
The secret Communist Index was renamed the Reserve Index in 1960
and expanded to imclude “influential™ persons deemed likely to “aid
subversive elements™ in an emergency because of their “subversive as-
sociations and ideology.” Such individuals fell under the following
categories:

Professors, teachers. and educators; labor union organizers
and leaders: writers, lecturers. newsmen and others in the
mass media field: lawvers, doctors, and scientists: other po-
tentially influential persons on a local or national level; indi-
viduals who could potentially furnish financial or material
aid.

¥ Memorandum from A. H. Belmont to D. M. Ladd, 10/15/52.

¥ Memorandum from D. M. Ladd to J. Edgar Hoover, 11/13/32.

" Memorandum from Attorney General James MeGranery to J. Edgar Hoover,
11/25/52; memorandum from Attorney General Herbert Brownell to J. Edgar
Hoover, 4/27/53.

™ SAC Letter No. 97, Series 1949, 10/19/49. Field offices gave special attention
to “key figures” and “top functionaries” of the Communist Party. The “Comsab”
program concentrated on potential Communist saboteurs, and the “Detcom” pro-
gram was the FBI's own “priority arrest” list. The Communist Index was “a com-
plfhensne compilation of individuals of interest to the internal security.”

" Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Brownell. 3/9/55
memorandum from J. F. Bland to A. H. Belmont, 7/30/58.

¥ Memorandum from A. . Belmont to L. V. Boardman, 1/14/35.
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Persons on the Reserve Index would receive “priority consideration”
for “action™ after detention of Security Index subjects. The breadth
of this list is illustrated by the inclusion of the names of author
Norman Mailer and a professor who merely praised the Soviet Union
to his elass,1?

In addition to keeping these programs secret, the FBI withheld
information about espionage from the Justice Department on at least
two occasions. In 1946 the FBI had *identified over 100 persons™ whom
it “suspected of being in the Government Communist Underground.”
Neither this number nor any names from this list were given to the
Department because Director Hoover feared *leaks.” and because the
Bureau conceded in its internal documents that it did “not have
evidence, whether admissible or otherwise, reflecting actual member-
ship in the Communist Party.” *?¢ Thus the Bureau’s “suspicions™ were
not tested by outside review by the Justice Department and the investi-
gations could continue. In 1951 the FBI again withheld from the
I)ep‘u tment names of certain espionage sub)ects “for security reasons,”
since disclosure “would destroy chances of penetration and control.” *

Even the President’s Temporary Conmission on Employee Loyalty
could not get highly relevant information from the Burean. FBI As-
sistant Director D. M. Ladd told the Commission in 1946 that there
was a “substantial”™ amount of Communist “infiltration of the gov-
ernment.” But Ladd declined to answer when Commission members
asked for more details of FBI intelligence operations and the infor-
mation which served as the basis for his characterization of the ex-
tent of infiltration.” The Commission prepared a list of questions for
the FBI and asked that Divector Hoover appear in person. Instead.
Attorney General Clark made an “informal™ appearance and supplied
a memorandum stating that the number of “subversives™ in govern-
ment had “not vet re: wehed xonoux proportions.” but that the pOSlellltV
of “even oue (hslovql person™ in government service constituted a

“serions threat.” ™ Thus, the President’s Conmission chose not to
insist upon making a serious evaluation of FBI intelligence operations
or the extent of the danger.

The record suggests That executive oflicials were forced to make de-
cisions 1wmhmr security policy without full knowledgze. They had
to (lopend on the FBI's estimate of the problem. rather than being
able to make their own assessment on the basis of complete informa-
tion. It is also apparent that by this time outside officials were some-
times unwilling to oppose Director Hoover or to inguire fully into FBI
operations.*®

. O Domestie Letivity
(1) Vague Controls on (1.1 —The vagueness of Congress's pro-
hibitions of ~internal security functions™ by the CLA left room for the

" Memorandum from A. . Belmont to Mr. Parsons, 6/3/60.

 Memorandum from D. M. Ladd to J. Edgar Hoover, 9/3/46; memorandum
from Hoover to Attorney General Clark, 9/5/46.

" Memorandum from A. H. Belmont to D. M. Ladd, 4/17/51.

“Minutes of the President’s Temporary Commission on Employee Loyalty,
1/17/47. (Harry 8. Truman Library.)

¥ AMemorandum from Attorney General Clark to Mr, Vanech, Chairman, Presi-
dent’s Temporary Commission, 2/14/47. (Truman Library,)

* See finding (G) for a full discussion of the problem of FBI accountability.



57

(B}

Ageney’s subsequent domestic activity. A restriction against “police,
law enforcement or internal secur lt\ functions™ first appeared in
President Truman’s order establishing the Central Tntelligence Group
in 1046201

General Vandenburg, then Divector of Central Tntelligence, testified
in 1947 that this restriction was intended to “draw the lines very
sharply between the C'IG and the FBI™ and to “assure that the Central
Intelligence Group can never become a (Gestapo or security police.™ 202
Secretary of the Navy Janies Forrestal testified that the CL\ would be
“Timited definitely to purposes outside of this country, except the col-
lection of information gathered by other government agencies.” The
EBI would be relied upon “for domestic activities.” 2

In the House floor debate Congressiman Holifield stressed that the
work of the CT.\:

is strictly in the field of secret foreign intelligence—what is
known as clandestine intelligence. F11(>\ have no right in the
domestic field to colleet 111f01111‘1t10n of ac .mdestmo military
nature. They can evaluate it; ves.?*

Consequently. the National Security Act of 1947 provided specifically
hat the CTA

shall have no police. subpoena, law-enforcement powers. or
internal security functions.**

However. the 1947 et also contained a vague and undefined duty to
protect 1ntelh(mnux “sources and methods™ which later was used to
justify domestic activities ranging from electronic surveillance and
break-ins to penetration of plotest groups.?

(2) Dirug Testing and Cover Programs—In the early 1950s, the
CTA began a program of surreptitiously testing chemical and biologi-
cal materials, which included drug testing on unwitting Americans.
The existence of such a program was kept secret because, as the CIA’s
Inspectm (zeneral wrote in 1957, it was necessary to * plotect oper-
ations from exposure” to “the American public” as well as “enemy
forces.” Public knowledge of the CIA's “unethical and illicit actlw—
ities” was thought 111\91\ to have serious “political repercussions.” *7
CIA drug O\peumentols disregarded instructions of their superlors
within the Ageney and failed to take “reasonable precautions” when

M presidential Directive, Coordination of Federal Foreign Intelligence Activi-
ties, 1/22/46, 11 Fed. Reg. 1337. Fears that a foreign intelligence agency would
intrude into domestic matters went back to 1944, when General William Dono-
van, head of the Office of Strategic Services (the CIA's wartime predecessor)
proposed that OSS be transformed from a wartime basis to a permanent “central
intelligence service.” Donovan’s plan was leaked to the Chicago Tribune, al-
legedly by FBI Director Hoover, and it was denounced as a “super spy system”
which would *“pry into the lives of citizens at home.” [Corey Ford, Donovan of
the OSS (Boston: Little, Brown, 1970), pp. 303-3041.]

*2 Hearings before the Senate Armed Services Committee on S. 758 80th Cong.
(1947), p. 497.

3 Hearings before the House Committee on Expenditures in the Executive
Departments on H.R. 2319, S0th Cong. (1947). p. 127.

93 Cong Rec. 9430 (1947)

2550 UAS.(CL103(4) (3).

#% Ree pp. 102-103,

¥ Inspector General's Report on the Technical Services Division, Central
Intelhgence Agency, 1957.
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they undertook the test which resulted in the death of Dr. Frank
Olsen.=o8

The CT.A made extensive use of the Bureau of Narcotics and Dan-
cerous Drugs in conducting its program of drug testing on unwitting
subjects.

Military intelligence also administered drugs to volunteer subjects
who were unaware of the purpose or nature of the tests in which they
were participating.=®”

The CIA's drug research was conducted in part throungh arrange-
ments with universities. hospitals, and “private research organiza-
tions™ in a manner which concealed *from the mstitution the interests
of the CTA.” although “key individuals™ were made witting of Agency
sponsorship.2!° There were similar covert relationships with American
private institutions in other CI\ intelligence activities.*

& Intrusive Techniques

Throughout the cold war period. the intelligence agencies used
covert teohnlquos which invaded personal privacy to execute their

vague, uncontrolled. and overly broad mandate to collect intelligence.
Tntvﬂl‘ronco techniques were not properly controlled by 1esp01151b10
anthorities: some of the tee hniques were misused by senior adminis-
tration oflicials. On the other hand. the nature of the programs—
and, in some cases, their very existence—was often concealed from
those authorities.

a. Communications Interception: CIA and NSA

During the 1950s the Central Intelligence Agency instituted a
major program for opening mail between the United States and the
Soviet Union as it passed through postal facilities in New York
City.»*2 Two other short-term CIA projects in the fifties also involved
the opening of international mail within the United States, through
access to Customs Service facilities.?** Morcover, in the late 1940s the
Department of Defense made arrangements with several communi-
cations companies to receive international cable traflic, reinstating a
relationship that had existed during World War I1.*** These pro-
grams violated not only the ban on internal security functions by
f01910'n intelligence agencies in the 1947 Act, but also specific statutes
pmtectmw the | privacy of the mails and forbidding the interception of
communications.**

M Memorandum from the CIA General Counsel to the Inspector General,
1/5/54.

" U.8. Army Intelligence Center Staff Study: Material Testing Program EA
1729, 10/15/59.

#9 CTA Inspector General's Report, 1963.

U This issue is examined more fully in the Committee’s Report on Foreign
and Military Intelligence Activities.

2 Memorandum from James Angleton, Chief, Counterintelligence Staff, to
Chief of Operations, 11/21/55 (attachment).

3 CIA Memorandum re: Project SETTER, undated (New Orleans) ; Memo-
randum from “Identity #13” to Deputy Director of Security, 10/9/57 (New
Orleans) ; Rockefeller Commission Staff Summary of CIA Office Officer Interview,
3/1R/75 (Hawait).

#* Robert Andrews, Special Ascistant to the General Counsel, Department of
Defense. testimony., 9/23/75, pp. 34--10.

18 U.S.C. 1701-1703 (mail) ; 47 U.S.C. 605 (Federal Communications Act
of 1934).
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While their original purpose was to obtain foreign intelligence, the
programs hequentl\ did not distinguish between the messages of for-
eigners and of Americans.*® F wrthermore. by the late fifties and carly
xl\tlos, the CL\ and NSA were sharing the “take” with the FBI for
domestic intelligence purposes.?t

In this period, the CL\ opened mail to and from the Soviet Union
largely at random, intercepting letters of Americans unrelated to for-
eign intelligence or counterintelligence.2® After the FBI learned of
the CLA program. it levied 1(‘(]11(‘5(5 in certain categories. Apart from
foreign counterintelligence criteria, the Bureau e\plessed interest
in letters from citizens professing “pro-Communist sympathies” ***
and “data re U.S. peace groups going to Russia.” **°

The seeret arrangements with cable companies to obtain copies of in-

ternational traflic were initially authorized by Secretary of Defense
James Forrestal and Attorney General Tom Clark, although it is not
clear that they knew of the interception of American as w ell us foreign
messages.™! They developed no formal legal rationale, and their later
successors were never consulted to renew the authorization.**

The C'IA sought no outside authorization before instituting its mail
opomno' program. Several Post Office ofticials were misled into believ-
ing that the CTA's request for access to the mail only involved examing
the exterior of the envelopes.®#? President Kennedy's Postmaster Gen-
eral. J. Edward Day, testified that he told CIA Director Allen Dulles
he did not want to “Inow anything about™ what the CIA was doing.***
Beyond undocumented dssumptlons by CIA officials, there is no evi-
dence that the President or the \ttmne\ GGeneral was ever informed
about any aspect of CTA mail-opening operations in this period.**

25 FA memorandum “For the Record” from Thomas B. Abernathy, 8/21/61;
Dr. Louis Tordella, former Deputy Director, National Security Agency, testimony
10/21/7%5, pp. 17-20.

2" High FBI officials decided to use the ClA mail opening program for ‘“our
internal security objectives” in 1958 They did not want the Bureau to “assume
this coverage” itself because its “sensitive nature” created “inherent dangers”
and due to its “complexity, size. and expense.” Instead, the Bureau would hold
CIA “respensible to share their coverage with us.” (Memorandum from A. H. Bel-
mont to Mr. Boardman, 1/22/58,) The initial FBI request to NSA involved *com-
mercial and personal communications between persons in (fuba and the United
States.” (Memorandum from W. R. Wannall to W, (. Sullivan, Assistant Director,
Domestic Intelligence Division. 3/18/62.)

8 Abernathy memorandum, 8/21/61.

#® Memorandum from W. A, Branigan to W. C. Sullivan (attachment). 8/21/61.

= Memorandum from W. A. Branigan to W. . Sullivan, 2/15/62.

1 Select Commiittee Memorandum, Subject : Review of Documents at DOD Re-
garding LP MEDLEY, 9/17/75. (“LP MEDLEY" was the CIA’s codename for
this program ; the NSA codename was SHAMROCK.)

* Secretary Forrestal's immediate successor, Touis Johnson, renewed the ar-
rangement in 1949, To the knowledge of those interviewed by the Committee, this
was the last instance in which the companies raised any question as to the
authority for the arrangements. (Andrews, 9/23/75. pp. 34, 40.)

*# Richard Helms Testimony, 10/22/75. Hearings, Vol. 4, p. 84. Memorandum
from Richard Helms to Sheffield Edwards, Director of Security, 5/17/54.

= J. Edward Day Testimony, 10/22/75. Hearings, Vol. 4. p. 45. However, a
contemporaneous ('IA memorandum stated that “no relevant details” were with-
held from Day when he was briefed in 1961 by CIA officials. (Memorandum from
Richard Helms to Deputy Chief of the Counterintelligence Staff, 2/16/61.)

* Helms, 10/22/75, Hearings, Vol. 4, pD. 87-89.
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b.I'BI Covert Tecliniques

(1) Electronic Surceillance,

(a) The Question of Authority: In 1946 Attorney (General Tom
Clark asked President Truman to renew the ‘1ut110117(1t10n for war-

rantless wiretapping issued by President Roosevelt in 1940. Clark’s

memorandum, however, did not refer to the portion of the Roosevelt
divective which said wiretaps should be limited “insofar as possible
to aliens.”™ It stressed the danger from “subversive activity here at
home.” and requested authority to wiretap “in cases vitally affecting
the domestic security.” »** The President gave his approval. Truman’s
aides later discovered _\ttornev General (lark’s omission and the
President considered. but decided against. returning to the terms of
Roosevelt’s authorization.?®?

In 1954 the Supreme Court denounced the Fourth ‘Amendment
violation by police who placed a microphone in a bedroom in a local
gambling case.*s

Soon thereafter. despite this decision—and despite his predecessor's
ruling that trespassory installation of bugs was in the “area™ of the
Fourth Amendment—Attorney General Herbert Brownell authorized
the “unrestricted use™ in the “national interest™ of “trespass in the
mstallation of microphones,™ >

From 1954 until 1965, when Attorney General Nicholas Katzenbach
reconsidered the policy and imposed stricter regulations.”*® the FBI
had unsupervised discretion to nse micr ophono surveillance and to
conduet surreptitious entries to install microphones. Thus, the safe-
guard of applovn] by the Attorney General for each wiretap had been
undercut by the FBT's ability to ‘intrude into other., often more inti-
mate conversations by microphone “bugging.”

(BY Ertensive Bugging: In May 1961, Director Hoover advised
Deputy Attorney Genm al Byron W1 iite that the FBI was using “micr 0-
phone surveillances™ *involving “trespass™ for “intelligence purposes™
i the “internal security fiell.” TTe called TWhite’s attention to the 1954
Brownell memorandum, although he said microphones were used “on
a restricted basis™ and cited as examples only “Soviet intelligence
agents and Communist Partv leaders.” =31

In fact. the FBI had already used microphone surveillance for
broader coverage than Communists or spies. Indeed. it had “bugged” a
hotel room occupied by a Congressman in February 1961. There is
no evidence that Attorney General Kennedy or Deputy Attorney

2 [Letter from Attorney General Clark to President Truman, 7/17/46.

#? Memorandum from G. M, Elsey, Assistant Counsel to the President, to 8. J.
Spingarn : memorandum from Elsey to the President, 2/2/50, (Spingarn Papers.
Harry S. Truman Library).

28 Irvine v. California, 347 U.S. 128 (1954).

2 Memorandum from Attorney General Brownell to J. Edgar Hoover, 5/20/51.
In 1952 Attorney General J. Howard McGrath refused to authorize microphone
surveillance involving trespass because it was “in the area of the Fourth Amend-
ment.” (Memorandum from Attorney General McGrath to J. Edgar Hoover,
2/26/52.)

" See p. 103. (The Chief Counsel to the Select Committee disqualified himself
from participating in Committee deliberations concerning either Mr. Katzenbach
or former Assistant Attorney General Burke Marshall becanse of a previous
aftorney-client relationship with those two persons.)

M Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Deputy Attorney General Byron
White, 5/4/61.
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General White were specifically informed of this surveillance. But
the Attorney General received information which came from the
“bug™ and authorized a wiretap of the Congressman’s secretary.”*

Furthermore, FBI records disclose that the FBI conducted war-
rantless microphone surveillances in 1960-1963 directed at a “black
separatist eroup.” “black separatist group functionaries™ and a
“(white) racist organization.” *** There may have been others for
purely domestic intelligence purposes.®”

The FBI maintained no “central file or index™ to record all micro-
phone surveillances in this period. and FBI records did not distinguish
“bugs” involving trespass.

(2) “Black Bug Jobs."—There is no indication that any Attorney
General was informed of FBI “black bag” jobs, and a “Do Not File™
procedure was designed to preclude outside discovery of the FBIs
use of the technique.

No permanent records were kept for approvals of “black bag jobs.”
or surreptitious entries conducted for purposes other than installing a
“buge.” The FBI has described the procedure for authorization of sur-
reptitious entries as requiring the approval of Director Hoover or his
Assistant Clyde Tolson. The authorizing memorandum was filed in the
Assistant Director's office under a *Do Not I'ile™ procedure, and there-

4 In the course of an investigation, authorized by Attorney General Kennedy,
iitto lobbying efforts on behalf of a foreign country regarding sugar guota legis-
lation, the FBI determined that Congressman Harold D. Cfooley, ¢hairman of the
House Agriculture Committee, planned to meet with reprexentatives of a foreign
country in a hotel room. (FBI memorandum, 2/15/61; Memorandum from
W. R. Waunall to W, (. Sullivan, 12/22/66.)

At the instruction of Director Hoover, the Bureau installed a microphone in
the hotel room to record this meeting. (FBI memorandum, 2/15/61; Memo-
randum from D. E. Moore to A. H. Belmont, 2/16/61.) The results of the meeting
were subsequently disseminated to the Attorney General. (Memorandum from
J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 2/18/61.)

A reviw of this case by FBI officials in 1966 concluded that “our files contain
no clear indication that the Attorney General was specifically advised that a
microphone surveillance was being utilized. . .” (Memorandum from Wannall
to Sullivan, 12/21/66.) It was noted, however, that on the morning of Febru-
ary 17, 1961—after the microphone was in place but an hour or two before the
meeting actually occurred—Director Hoover spoke with Attorney General
Kennedy and, according to Hoover's contemporaneous memorandum, advised
him that the Cooley meeting was to take place that day and that “we are trying
to cover” it. (Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Messrs. Tolson, Parsons,
Mohr, Belmont, and Deloach, 2/17/61.)

2 According to records compiled by the FBI, there was FBI microphone sur-
veillance of one “black separatist group” in 1960; one “hack separatist group”
and one “black separatist group functionary” in 1961; two “black separatist
groups,” one “black separatist group functionary,” and one *(white) racist
organization” in 1962; and two “black separatist groups” and one “black
separatist group functionary™ in 1963. (Memorandum from FBI to Select Com-
mittee, 10/23/75.

* The Select Committee has determined that the ¥BI, on at least one occasion,
maintained no records of the approval of a microphone surveillance authorized
by an Assistant Director. (FBI Memorandum, 1/30/75, Subject : Special Squad
at Democratic National Convention, Atlantic City, New Jersey, 8/22-28/61.)

® Memorandum from the FBI to the Senate Select Committee, 10/17/75. This
memorandum also states that, on the basis of the recollections of agents and a
review of headquarters files, the FBI has “been able to identify” the following
nuinber of “surreptitious entries for microphone installations” in “internal
security, intelligence. and counterintelligence” investigations: 1960: 49; 1961 :
631 1962 75 1963 : 79; and the following number of such entries “in eriminal
investigations” (as opposed to intelligence) : 1960: 11; 1961: 69; 1962: 106;
1963 : 84,
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after destroyed. In the field office. the Special Agent in Charge main-
tained a record of approval in his oflice safe. At the next yvearly field
office inspection. an Inspector would review these records to ensure
that the SAC had secured FBI headgquarters approval in conducting
surreptitious entires. Upon completion of the review, these records
were destroyed.?®

The only internal FBI memorandum found discussing the policy
for surreptitious entries confirms that this was the procedure and
states that “we do not obtain authorization from outside the Burean”
because the technique was “elearly illegal.” The memorandum indi-
cates that “black bag jobs™ were used not only “in the espionage field”
but also against “subversive elements™ not directly connected to es-
pionage activity. It added that the teehniques resulted “on numerous
occasions™ in obtaining the “highly seeret and closely guarded” mem-
bership and mailing lists of “subversive™ groups.*

(3) Mail Opening—The FBI did not seek outside authorization
when it reinstituted mail opening programs in the fifties and early
sixties. Iight programs were conducted for foreign intelligence and
counterespionage purposes, and Bureau oficials who supervised these
programs have testified that legal considerations were simply not
raised at the time.®?

Beyvond their original purpose. the FBI mail opening programs
produced some information of an essentially domestic nature. For
example, during this period one program supplied “considerable data”
about. American citizens who expressed pro-Communist sympathies
or made “anti-1.8. statements.”” 2 Some of the mail-opening by-
product regarding Americans was digseminated to other agencies for
law enforcement purposes, with the source disguised.?*!

e. Usecof FBI Wiretaps
The authorization for wiretapping issued by President Truman in

1946 allowed the \Attorneyv (reneral to approve wiretaps in the investi-
gation of “subversive activity™ to protect the “domestic security.” *#?

“"Memorandum from the FBI to the Senate Select Committee, 9/23/75.

= Memorandum from W. . Sullivan to C. D. DeLoach, 7/19/66. Subject:
"Black Bag” Jobs. Initials on thix memorandum indicate that it was prepared
by F. J. Baumgardner, an FBI Intelligence Division Section Chief, and approved
by J. A, Sizoo, principal deputy to Assistant Director W. (. Sullivan. This
menmorandum was located in Director Hoover's »Official and Confidential™ files,
and it appears that the memorandum was shifted from IHoover's “Personal Files™
shortly before his death. (Helen Gandy deposition, 11/12/75, pp. 4-6.)

The FBI compiled a list of the “domestic subversive” targets, baxed “upon
recollections of Npecial Agents who have knowledge of such activities, and review
of those files identified by recollection as being targets of surreptitious entries.”
The list states “at least fourteen domestic subversive targets were the subject of
at leaxt 238 entriex from 1942 to April 1968, In addition, at least three domestic
subversive targets were the subject of numerous entries from October 1932 to
June 1966. . . . One white hate gronp wax the target of an entry in March 1966.”
The Bureau admits that this list is “incomplete.” (Memorandum from the FBI
to the Senate Nelect Committee, 9/23/75.)

* Deposition of William R. Branigan, Section Chief, FBI Intelligence Division,
10/9/75. pp. 13, 39, 40. Testimony of Asxistant Director W. Raymond Wannall.
FBI Intelligence Division, 10/24/75, Hearings, vol. 4, pp. 14849,

0 Memorandum from San Francisco field office to FBI Headquarters, 3/11/60.

1 ylemorandum from X, B, Donahoe to W, ¢ Sullivan, 9/15/61 : Memorandum
from San Francisco field office to FBI headquarters, 7/28/61.

2 Letter from Attorney General Clark to President Truman. 7/17/46.
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A wiretap on an official of the Nation of Islam, originally authorized
by Attorney (ieneral Herbert Brownell in 1%7 continued thereafter
without re-authorization until 1965243 Attorney (eneral Robert Ken-
nedy approved FBI requests for wiretaps on an Alabama Klan leader
in 1963 ** and on black separatist group leader Maleolm X in 1964,
Kennedy also authorized wiretap coverage requested by the Warren
("ommission in 196424 Kennedy's approv al of FBI requests for wire-
taps on Dr. Martin Luther King and several of his associates are dis-
cussed in greater detail elsew here in the Committee’s report.®’

In addition, Attorney General Kennedy approved wiretaps on four
Amerlcan citizens during investigations of “classified information
leaks.” The taps failed to discover the sources of the alleged “leaks”
and involved procedural irregularities. In 1961 Attorney General
Kennedy told Director Hoover that the President wanted the FBI
to determine who was responsible for an apparent “leak” to Newsweek
reporter Lloyd Norman, author of an article about American mili-
tary plans in Germany.?® But the Attorney General was not asked to
approve a wiretap on Norman's residence until after it was installed.

According to contemporancous Bureau memoranda, wiretaps in
1962 on the residence of New York Times reporter Hanson Baldwin
and his secretary to determine the source of an article about Soviet
missile sites were also instituted without prior written approval of
the Attorney General: and one of them—the tap on the secretary—
was Instituted without the Attorney (eneral’s’ prior knowledge.®
Kennedy's written approval was obtained, however, three days after
the Baldwin tap was installed and four (lays after the tap on the
secretary was installed.?®

The pattern, including ex post facto approval, was repeated for
wiretaps of a former FBI agent who disclosed “confidential” Bureau
information in a public forum. The first tap lasted for eight days in
1962, and it was reinstituted in 1963 for an undetermined period.?!
Attorney General Kennedy was advised that the FBI desired to place
the initial coverage ; but he was not informed that it had been effected
the day before, and he did not grant written approval until the day

# Memorandum from Hoover to Brownell, 12/31/56.
# Memorandum from Hoover to Kennedy, 10/9/63.
# Memorandum from Hoover to Kennedy, 4/1/64.
* Memorandum from Hoover to Kennedy, 2/24/64.
See Findings C and G and Committee Report on the FBI and Dr. Martin
T.uther King, Jr.

¥ Memorandum from R. D. Cotter to W, (. Sullivan, 12/15/66. On the same
day. and without specific authorization from the Attorney General, the FBI
placed a wiretap on Norman’s residence. Attorney General Kennedy was
informed of the wiretap two days later, and approved it the following day.
(Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 6/29/61.)
The tap continued for four days until Norman went on vacation. (Memorandum
from 8. B. Donahoe to W. ¢, Sullivan, 7/3/61.) At no time did this or any other
aspect of the FBI's investigation produce any evidence that Norman had actu-
ally obtained classified information. An FBI summary stated: “The majority of
those interviewed thought a competent. well-informed reporter could have writ-
ten the article without having reviewed or received classified information.”
(Memorandum from Cotter to Sullivan, 12/15/66.)

** Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 7/27/62.

= Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 7/31/62.
The tap on the secretary lasted three weeks, and the tap on Baldwin a month.
Memoranda from W. R. Wannall to W. C. Sullivan, 8/13/62 and 8/28/62.

1 'naddressed memorandum from A. H. Belmont, 1/9/63.

247
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it was terminated.®® Tt appears that only oral authorization was
obtained for reinstituting the tap in 1963.2%

In February 1961, Attorney General Kennedy requested the FBI
to initiate an investigation for the purpose of developing:

intelligence data which would provide President Kennedy a
picture of what was behind pressures exerted on behalf of [a
foreign country] regarding sugar quota deliberations in Con-
gress . . . in connection with pending sugar legislation.*

This investigation lasted approximately nine weeks, and was rein-
stituted for a three-month period in mid-1962.

According to an FBI memorandum, the Attorney General author-
ized the wiretaps in 1961 on the theory that “the administration has
to act if money or gifts are being passed by the [representatives of a
foreign country].” 2% Specifically, he approved wiretaps on several
American citizens: three officials of the Agriculture Department (resi-
dences only) : 2 the clerk of the House Committee on Agriculture
who wus also seeretary to the chairman (vesidence only) : #°7 and a reg-
istered agent of the foreign country (both residence and business tele-
phones).2* After passage of the Administration’s own sugar bill in
April 1961, these wiretaps were discontinued.?™

The investigation was reinstituted in June 1962, when the Bureau
learned that representatives of the same foreign country again might
be influencing congressional deliberations concerning an amendment
to the sugar quota legislation.””” Attorney General Kennedy approved
wiretaps on the office telephone of an attorney believed to be an agent
of the foreign country and. again, on the residence telephone of the
Clerk of the ITouse Agriculture Committee.*** The latter tap continued
for one month, but the former apparently lasted for three months.*

1 VMemorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 10/19/62.

= Unaddressed memorandum from “hwg” (Director Hoover's secretary was
ITelen W. Gandy), 1/9/63. Thiy memorandum reads: “Mr. Belmont called to say
(Courtney) Evans spoke to the Attorney General replacing the tech on [former
FBI agent] again. and the Attorney General said by all means do this. Mr. Bel-
mont has instructed New York to do <o.” ( Assistant Direetor Courtney Fvans was
the FBI's normal liaison with Attorney General Kennedy.)

St Memorandum from W. R. Wanall to W. C. Sullivan, 12/22/66. The Sugar
Lobby investigation is also discussed at footnote 233.

5 Memorandum from A. I Belmont to Mr. Parsons, 2/14/61.

“ Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Kennedy, 2/14/61.

® Memoradum from Hoover to the Attorney General, 2/16/61.

¥ Memorandum from IToover to the Attorney General, 2/16/61.

0 According to a memorandum of a meeting between Attorney General Ken-
nedy and Courtney Evans, Kennedy stated that *now the law was passed he did
not feel there was justification for continuing this extensive investigation.”
(Memorandum from C. A. Evans to Mr. Parsons 4/14/61.) The investigation did
discover possibly unlawful influence was being exerted by representatives of
the foreign country involved. but it did not reveal that money was actually being
passed to any Executive or congressional official. (Memorandum from Wannall
to Sullivan, 12/22/66.)

" BRI letterhead memoranda, 6/135, 18, 19/62.

1 Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to the Attorney General, 6/26,/62.

* The wiretap on the House Committee Clerk had “produced no information
of value.” While there is no indication that the other wiretaps. including five
directed at foreign targets, produced evidence of actual payoffs, they did reveal
that possibly unlawful influence was again being exerted by the foreign gov-
ernment, and internal Bureau permission was ohtained to continue them for
sixty days beyond the initial thirty-day period. (Memorandum from W. R. Wan-
nall to W. C. Sullivan, 8/16/62.)
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These \Viletaps in 1961 and 1962 were u'(rudblv related to ‘“for-
eign intelligence”™—but not to “subversive actl\lts " unless that term
is mterpleted bevond its conventional meaning.** More important,
they generated information which was potentially useful to the Ken-
nedy administration for purely political purposes relating to the
legislative process.?s*

The wiretap authorized by Attornev General Kennedy on another
high executive official in this period did not relate to political con-
siderations, but to concern about possible disclosure of classified in-
formation to a foreign government.?** There is no indication that the
wiretap anthorized by Attorney General Katzenbach in 1965 on the
editor of an anti-communist newsletter, was related in any way to the
book he had written in 1964 alleging personal impropriety by Attor-
neyv General Kennedy. 2
6. Domestic (overt Aetion

In its COINTELPRO operation, the FBI went hevond excessive
information-gathering and dissemination to the use of seeret tacties
designed to “disrupt™ and “neutralize™ domestie intelligence targets.
At the outset. the tavrget was the Communist Party, U.S.A. But.
consistent with the pattern revealed in other domestic intelligence ac-
tlvmeg the program widened to other targets, nmlmsm(rh conconrmt—
ing on domestic dissenters. The expausion of (‘OI\"I ELPRO| egan in
the Cold War period and accelerated in the latter part of the 19605,

a. COINTELPRO : Communist Purty
The COINTELPRO program. authorized by Director Ioover

agaimst the Communist Party in 1956, had its rocts in two lines of
Bureau policy going back to the 1940=, The first was the accepted FBI

* A White House “briefing paper,” prepared in February 1961. stated, "It is
thought by some informed observers that the outcome of the sugar legislation
which comes up for renewal in the U.S. Congress in March 1961 will be all-
important to the future of U.S./(foreign country) relations.” (Memorandum
from Richard M. Bissell, Jr. to McGeorge Bundy, 2/17/61.) Another White House
“briefing memorandum” in June 1962 stated., “The action taken by the House
of Representatives in passing the House Agriculture (‘fommittee hill {The Cooley
bill) has created a furor in the (foreign country) . . .” Officials of that country
«aid that the legislation “would be disastrous” to its “economy.” (Memorandum
from William H. Brubeck to McGeorge Bundy and Myer Feldman, 6/23/62.)
(JFK Library.)

¥ See Finding on Political Abuse, pp. 233, 234. The wiretapping of American
citizens in these instances could only serve “intelligence,” rather than law en-
foreement purposes, since any criminal prosecution (i.e., for bribery) would have
been “tainted™ by the warrantless wiretaps. [Coplon v. United States, 185 F. 2d
629 (1950), 191 F. 2d 749 (1951).]

i The circumstances indicating this possibility and the eventual determina-
tion that the allegation was unfounded are set forth in a memorandum from
Director IInover to Attorney General Kennedy in 196+ (Hoover to Kennedy,
5/4/64 and enclosure. (John F. Kennedy Library))

* The FBI requested the wiretap on the editor and an accompanying tap on
a Washington attorney in contact with the editor because of its concern about
possible “leaks” of information about FBI loyalty-security investigations of
government officials. Director Hoover advised that publication of this ‘“classi-
fied information” constituted “a danger to the internal security of the United
States.” (Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, 4/19/63.) However. in 1964
Director IHoover had volunteered to Attorney General Kennedy information
about the publication of the hook alleging impropriety. The author himself had
supplied information about the hook to the FBI. (Memoranda from Hoover to
Attorney General Kennedy, 7/8/64 and 7/15/64.)
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practice of attempting to disrupt “subversive™ organizations. A former
head of the BT Intelligence Division has testified :

We were engaged in COINTELPRO tacties, to divide, con-
fuse, weaken, in diverse ways. an organization. We were
on(rln'od in that when I entered the Bureauin 19-41.767

The memorandum recommending the institution of COINTELPRO
stated that the Bureau was already seeking to “foster factionalism”
and “cause confusion™ within the Communist Party.**

The second line of pre-existing Bureau policy involved propaganda
to discredit the Communist Party publicly. For example, in 1946, an
carlier head of the FBT Intelligence Division proposed that efforts be
made to release “educational material” through “available channels”
to influence “public opinion.” The “edueational” purpose was to under-
mine Communist support among “labor unlons," “persons prominent
in religious cireles,” and “the Liberal elements,” and to show “the basi-
cally Russian nature of the Communist Paxtv in this country.” 2 By
1956, a propaganda effort was underway to bring the Party and its
leaders “into disrepute before the American public.” 27

The evidence indicates that the FBI did not believe that the Com-
munist Party. when the COINTELPRO program was formalized in
1956, constituted as serious a threat in terms of actnal espionage as it
had in the 1940s.2"* Nevertheless, the FBI systematized its covert
action program against the Communist Partv in part because the
surfacing of informants in legal proceedings had somewhat limited
the Bureau’s coverage of Pfuh' activities and also totake advantage of
internal conflicts within the Party.22 Covert “disruption” was “also
designed to make sure that the Party would not reorganize under a
new label and thus would remain an easier target for | prosecution.?™

" Testimony of William C. Sullivan, Assistant Director for the Domestic In-
telligence Division (1961-1970) and Assistant to the Director (1970-1971),
11/1/75, pp. 42-43.

8 Memorandum from A. H. Belmont to L. V. Boardman, 8/28/56.

2® Memorandum from D. M. Ladd to J. Edgar Hoover, 2/27/46. According to
this memorandum the underlying reason for such Bureau propaganda was to
anticipate and counteract the “flood of propaganda from Leftist and so-called
Liberal sources” which would “be encountered in the event of extensive arrests
of Communists” if war with the Soviet Union broke out.

7% Belmont to Boardman, 8/28/56.

1 A Bureau monograph in mid-1955 “measured” the Communist Party threat
as:

“Influence over the masses, ability to create controversy leading to confusion
and disunity, penetration of specific channels in American life where public
opinion is molded, and espionage and sabotage potential.” [Emphasis supplied.]
(Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Dillon Anderson, Special Assistant to the
President. 7/29/55. and enclosed FBI monograph, “The Menace of Communism
in the United States Today.” pp. iv—v.)

The FBI official who served as Director Hoover’s liaison with the CIA in the
1950= stated that “the Communist Party provided a pool of talent for the Soviet
[intelligence] services” in the “30s and into the 40s.” During that period the
Soviets recruited agents “from the Party” to penetrate “the U.S. Government”
and “scientific circles.” He added, however, that “primarily because of the action
and counter-action taken by the FBI during the late 40s, the Soviet services
changed their tactics and considerably reduced any programs or projects de-
cigned to recruit CP members, realizing or assuming that they were getting heavy
attention from the Bureau.” (Testimony of former FBI liaison with CIA,
9/22/75, p. 32.) )

22 Belmont to Boardman, 8/28/65.

7 Belmont to Boardman, 9/5/56; memorandum from FBI headquarters to
SAC, New York, 9/6/56.
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In the years after 1936, the purpose of the ¢ ommunist Party COIN
TELPRO changed somewhat. Supreme Court decisions substantially
curbed eriminal | prosecution of Communists.?™* Subsequently, the FBI
“rationale” for COINTELPRO was that it had become “impossible
to prosecute Communist Party members” and some alternative was
needed “to contain the threat,” #72

b. Farly Expansion of COINTELPR()

From 1956 until 1960, the COINTELPRO program was primarily
aimed at the Communist Party organization. But. in March 1960,
participating FBI field offices were directed to make efforts to pre-
vent Communist “infiltration™ of “legitimate mass organizations, such
as Parent-Teacher Associations. civil organizations, and racial and
religious groups.” The initial technique was to notify a leader of the
or (r‘uu/(mon often by “anonymous commumcatmns, about the al-
lmrod Communist in its midst.2™ In some cases, both the Communist
and the “infiltrated™ organization were targeted.

This marked the beginning of the progression from tar (retin(r Com-
munist Party mombmb, to those allegedly under Communist “influ-
ence.” to persons taking positions quppmtod by the Communists. For
example. 1 1964 tar;:ets under the Communist Party COINTELPRO
label ineluded a group with some Communist participants urging in-
creased employment of minorities 7 and a non-Communist group in
opposition to the House Committee on Tn-American Activities.>®

In 1961. a COINTELPRO operation was initiated against the So-
cialist Workers Party. The originating memorandum said it was not
a ‘erash” program: and it was never given high priority.>® The
SWP's support for “such causes as Castro’s Cuba and integration
problems arising in the South™ were noted as factors in the FBI’s
decision to target the organization. The Bureau also relied npon its
assessnient that the SWTP was “not just another socialist group but
follows the revolutionary }nincip]os of Marx. Lenin, and Engels as
interpreted by Leon Trotsky™ and that it was “in frequent contact
with international Tr otsk\'lto eroups stopping short of open and dnect
contact \Vlth these groups.” = "The SWP had been designated as “sub-
versive” on the “A\ttorno} General’s list” since the 1940s.240

D. INTELLIGENCE axp Doarestic Dissext: 1964-1976

Main Developments of the 1964-1976 Period
Beginning in the mid-sixties. the TTnited States experienced a period
of domestic unrest and protest unparalleled in this century. Violence
erupted in the poverty- stricken urban ghettos, and opposition to
American intervention in Vietnam pmducod massive demonstrations.

™ R.g., Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298 (1957).
* Deposition of Supervisor, Internal Security Section, FBI Intelligence

Division, 10/16/75. pp. 10, 14.

“ Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to New York field office, 3/31/60.

" Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to San Francisco field office, 4/16/64.
¥ Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to Cleveland field office, 11/6/64.
¥ Forty-five actions were approved hy FBI Headquarters under the SWP

COINTELPRO from 1961 until it was discontinued in 1969. The SWP program

was then subsumed under the New Left COINTELPRO, see pp. 8889,

* Memorandum from Director, FBI, to New York field office, 10/12/61.
®Memorandum from the Attorney General to Ileads of Departments and

Agencies, 4/29/53.
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